IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA



THE FLORIDA BAR,

Complainant,

v

CASE NUMBER 88,276

BILL A. CORBIN,

Respondent.

RESPONDENT'S INITIAL BRIEF

John A. Weiss WEISS & ETKIN Attorney Number 0185229 2937 Kerry Forest Parkway Suite B-2 Tallahassee, FL 32308 (904) 893-5854 COUNSEL FOR RESPONDENT

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

The Appellant $i\,n$ these proceedings, the Respondent below, will be referred to as Mr. Corbin or as the Respondent. Appellee shall be referred to variously as The Florida Bar, the Bar, or Complainant.

Because only The Florida Bar submitted exhibits at final hearing, all exhibits entered into evidence at that hearing will be designated by the symbol Ex. followed by the appropriate exhibit number. At the disposition hearing on January 21, 1997, Respondent submitted a composite exhibit consisting of 32 affidavits. That exhibit shall be referred to R. Comp. Ex. A.

References to the transcript of the final hearing will be by the symbol TR followed by the appropriate page number. References to the transcript of the dispositional hearing will be by the symbol TRD followed by the appropriate page number.

ST TEMENT F THE C SE

This is an original disciplinary proceeding brought in the Supreme Court of Florida pursuant to Article V Section 15 of the Constitution of the State of Florida.

Pursuant to a finding of probable cause by the duly impaneled grievance committee, The Florida Bar served on June 19, 1996 its formal complaint charging Mr. Corbin with various acts of misconduct. Subsequently, the Honorable Nancy T. Gilliam was appointed referee to preside over these proceedings. As set forth in Section I of the Report of Referee, final hearing was held in this cause on November 26, 1996. Mr. Corbin represented himself at final hearing. On December 5, 1996, counsel for respondent filed a notice of appearance and appeared with Mr. Corbin at the dispositional hearing held on January 21, 1997. The Report of Referee was served by Judge Gilliam on February 20, 1997.

Mr. Corbin asks this Court to reverse those findings of fact by the Referee that form the basis for her conclusion that he be disciplined. Alternatively, he asks that the Court disregard the Referee's recommendation that he receive a six month suspension and that a public reprimand be administered instead.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

Respondent is a sole practitioner with offices in Blountstown, Calhoun County, and Marianna, Jackson County, Florida. He is 55 years old and was admitted to The Florida Bar on October 6, 1972. During the first week of December 1993, Respondent was retained by Mamie Elizabeth Reed to bring an action on her behalf for unpaid

rent for the period from September 1990 to September 1991 and for damages to the property against Kathryn M. Register, aka Kathryn M. Williams and Arthur Lee Williams, III. (Because the defendants have divorced, they will be referred to as Ms. Register and Mr. Williams respectively.) Respondent filed a complaint on behalf of Ms. Reed on December 6, 1993 (Ex. 2).

Shortly thereafter, Mr. Williams without counsel filed on behalf of himself and Ms. Register an unsworn answer to the complaint. In general, the defendants denied all allegations.

Mr. Williams, who testified that he had been in law enforcement since 1972 and answered "of course" when asked if he had ever been in court before, filed the answer to Ms. Reed's complaint in the courthouse in the appropriate clerk's office himself. TR 35, 36. Mr. Williams testified that he was familiar with filing papers and various procedures in litigation because he had "had a few..." divorces in his life. TR 35.

On February 4, 1994, Ms. Register and Mr. Williams were deposed by Mr. Corbin jointly. At the deposition, Mr. Williams told Mr. Corbin that he had copies of five checks for rent that had been paid subsequent to August 1990. On or about March 1, 1994, Mr. Williams sent copies of the five checks (Ex. 3) to Mr. Corbin by facsimile.

After receiving the purported rent payment checks from Mr. Williams, Ms. Corbin presented them to his client, Ms. Reed, and her mother, Ann Crum, the individual who was in charge of receiving the rent payments. Both Ms. Reed and Ms. Crum were "shocked" to

see the checks. Ms. Crum adamantly denied that she had received the checks or endorsed them. She continued her adamant denial of receipt and endorsement of the checks from the time she was first shown them through her testimony at final hearing. TR 133, 138.

Ms. Crum executed an affidavit (Ex. 4) on May 11, 1994 in which she swore that she had received no rent payments from either of the defendants since their last payment in August 1990. She further asserted that she kept a log of all payments made by the defendants, and attached it to the affidavit, indicating the last payment made was the August 1990 payment. At final hearing, Ms. Crum testified that the May 11, 1994 affidavit was correct. TR 135,

On June 17, 1994, Mr. Corbin filed on behalf of Ms. Reed a motion for summary judgment. Ex. 4. Attached to that motion were Ms. Crum's affidavit and her three page log. Mr. Williams testified that he received the motion for summary judgment with Ms. Crum's affidavit attached and that he saw her sworn statement that he had not made any rent payments after August 1990. TR 48-50.

In Ms. Reed's motion for summary judgment, Mr. Corbin used the language customarily used in such motions in paragraph 4 where he stated:

There is no issue of any material fact in this cause, and Plaintiff is entitled as a matter of law to a judgment against Defendants.

Upon receipt of the motion, Mr. Williams "just sat **back**" and waited for a hearing before a judge. He did not file a counter affidavit to the motion nor did he call up Mr. Corbin to discuss the case

with him. TR 50, 51.

Mr. Corbin did not set down a hearing on the motion for summary judgment until December 16, 1994, six months after the motion was served. The hearing was held pursuant to notice dated December 9, 1994. The Honorable Woodrow Hatcher, County Judge, continued the hearing on the motion for summary judgment for ten days to give Mr. Williams and Ms. Register time to file a counter affidavit to the motion for summary judgment. On December 20, 1994 Mr. Williams filed an affidavit in opposition to the motion for summary judgment. No significant action has occurred on the case since that time.

In July 1995, Mr. Williams filed a grievance against Mr. Corbin as a result of the motion for summary judgment. On September 14, 1995, Mr. Corbin filed a letter response to the grievance filed by Mr. Williams. In the second paragraph of that letter, Mr. Corbin stated to Bar Counsel that:

To begin with, it probably would be best for you to have copies of all documents contained in the subject court file... And, if you desire those copies I will be happy to provide them;....

In the third paragraph of the second page of that letter, Mr. Corbin stated:

The Complainant's statement that I didn't file copies of the checks with the Court concerning the Motion for Summary Judgment is correct; however the 3-page attachments to Ms. Crum's Affidavit clearly shows the payments by those checks and thus credit for them. Paragraph 4 of the Affidavit clearly states that payments were made by the Defendants.

In fact, Ms. Crum's affidavit did not reflect the payments made by the five checks at issue. Mr. Corbin testified that his letter was in error because it was prepared while he was in his Blountstown office and the file was in his Marianna office. TR 83-86. He based his answer, in part, on a file memo provided by his secretary.

Notwithstanding the clear and unequivocal testimony by Ms. Crum and Ms. Reed to the contrary, the Referee found that Mr. Corbin knew that the information contained in Ms. Crum's affidavit was untrue. Mr. Corbin adamantly denied that allegation.

At final hearing, Judge Hatcher was called to testify on Respondent's behalf. Judge Hatcher testified when asked about the propriety of Mr. Corbin's conduct regarding the motion for summary judgment that it was not Mr. Corbin's responsibility to bring up the five checks that Mr. Williams alleged had been submitted as rent payment after August 1990. TR 181, 182. Judge Hatcher went on to state that Mr. Corbin's conduct in the case at Bar did not make him a "dishonest lawyer" in Judge Hatcher's eyes. TR 182.

At the conclusion of Judge Hatcher's testimony, the following two questions were asked and answered:

- Q. In twenty years have you ever known Bill Corbin being deceitful or fraudulent or dishonest with the court in any way?
- A. If you had, you would have known about it. I think most lawyers know that I would not allow that if I knew about it. I would certainly take immediate steps.
- Q. You've never known of that?
- A. No sir.

On January 21, 1997, a disposition hearing was held before Judge Gilliam for the purpose of taking evidence in mitigation and aggravation of discipline. Mr. Corbin was the only person to testify live at that hearing. On only one day's notice, however, he was able to gather 31 affidavits that were presented to the Court attesting to his good character. TRD 15. In a similar period of time, the Bar was only able to obtain three affidavits, from three lawyers practicing in two firms in Panama City, Florida. The Bar obtained no affidavits from any individuals in either of the two counties in which Respondent practices. Among Mr. Corbin's affidavits (Respondent's composite exhibit A) were favorable attestations from 30 individuals in his community. Among those testifying were a med cal doctor, the Chief and the Assistant Chief of police, Mr. Cosbin s pastor, a deputy clerk of court and several lawyers. Among the non-lawyers testifying were clients and nonclients. Mr. Cosbin submitted his own affidavit outlining his community activities as part of the composite exhibit referred to above.

Mr. Corbin also testified about the three private reprimands that he had received. TR 24, Comp. Ex. A. Those three private reprimands, administered in 1978, 1984 and 1988 were for neglect, conflict of interest and neglect respectively.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Respondent asks this Court to reject the Referee's findings that he deliberately misrepresented material facts to the Court when he filed a motion for summary judgment and that he attached to

that motion an affidavit that he knew was untrue. Respondent argues that the Bar failed to meet its burden of proving intent by clear and convincing evidence as to each of those allegations. Respondent argues in Point II of his brief that the Referee erroneously concluded that he deliberately tried to mislead the Bas when he made a misstatement in his initial response to the grievance filed in this cause. Respondent argues that misstatement was unintentional and did not involve a material fact and, therefore, he did not violate the rule at issue. Finally, Respondent argues that, should this Court uphold the Referee's to misconduct, the Referee's findings and conclusions as recommendation of a six month suspension should be rejected and a public reprimand substituted therefore.

In Point I of this brief Respondent challenges the Referee's finding that he knowingly attached a false affidavit from Ann Crum to the motion for summary judgment that he filed on behalf of Ms. Crum's daughter, Mamie Reed. In that affidavit, Ms. Crum asserted that she had received no rent payments from the defendants after August 1990. She, and her daughter, Respondent's client, both testified at final hearing that they had never seen the purported rent payments prior to their seeing them at Mr. Corbin's office in May 1994. Neither individual could be shaken from their testimony. The Bar alleges that Mr. Corbin should not have relied on the assertions of his client and her mother, Ms. Crum, even though the latter submitted an affidavit. As justification for its position, the Bar submitted into evidence the five purported rent payment

checks bearing signatures the Bar argued were Ms. Crum's. Neither of the Bar's two witnesses, however, could state under oath that Ms. Crum did, in fact, sign the checks. Neither witness was a hand-writing expert.

Respondent argues that he had the right to rely on Ms. Crum's sworn testimony and that he did not knowingly (in fact, to this day, there has been no determination as to whether Ms. Crum did or did not receive the checks) submit a false affidavit.

The Bar also alleges that Respondent engaged in misconduct when he stated in the motion for summary judgment filed on behalf of his client that there was "no issue of any material fact" in the The Bar bases its assertion on the fact that one of the defendants had presented Mr. Corbin with the five checks. Corbin argues that he had the right to rely on his client's and her mother's assertions that the checks were never provided to them. He points out that the defendants had submitted an unsworn answer denying the allegations which put the Court on notice that there may be issues of fact. He further argues that because the defendants did not file a counter affidavit to Ms. Crum's affidavit during the six months between the filing of the motion for summary judgment and its hearing, he had a right to take the matter to hearing before the judge. Finally, he points to the testimony of the judge that in 20 years of practice before him, Respondent had never lied to the Court and to the fact that the judge expressed no displeasure with Respondent at final hearing as evidence that the Court was not deceived.

On both points the Bar has failed to prove by clear and convincing evidence that Respondent intentionally misled anybody. That failure to prove the allegations is fatal to the Bar's cause and, therefore, the guilty finding should be dismissed.

In Point 11, Respondent argues that the Referee improperly concluded that he deliberately intended to mislead The Florida Bar on a material fact. Unlike the arguments made in Point I, the facts as to this point on appeal are uncontroverted. In his initial response to the Bar's letter of inquiry, Mr. Corbin stated that the Defendants had been given credit for the five checks at issue. That statement was clearly a mistake. Respondent argues that it was an unintentional oversight due to the fact that he prepared his answer to the Bar's inquiry from an office different from the one in which the subject file was kept. He further argues that the misrepresentation was immaterial and, therefore, was not a violation of the Rule.

Finally, Respondent argues in Point III that, should this Court uphold the Referee's findings and conclusions, that a discipline of a six month suspension is unduly harsh. Rather, this Court should impose a public reprimand.

Referee disregarded material mitigation in the case and improperly found aggravating factors. Specifically, the Referee disregarded the 30 affidavits of good character Respondent obtained on one day's notice because The Florida Bar managed to obtain in a similar period of time affidavits from three lawyers in two firms in a

county different from those in which Respondent practices. Respondent argues that the Referee should have considered as a mitigating factor his good reputation in his community because those 30 affidavits were from clients, non-clients and lawyers and included such representatives of the community as the chief and the deputy chief of police, a clerk of court, a physician and a clergyman. Respondent further argues that he had no dishonest motive in his representation of Ms. Reed and, therefore, that should have been a mitigating factor. Respondent disputes the Referee's conclusion that he did, in fact, have a dishonest motive and that he refused to acknowledge guilt as aggravating factors, The latter is clearly an improper factor for a referee to consider.

Based on the case law cited in the brief, Respondent submits that the appropriate discipline for his misconduct is a public reprimand.

ARGUMENT

POINT I

THE FLORIDA BAR DID NOT PROVE BY CLEAR AND CONVINCING EVIDENCE THAT RESPONDENT INTENTIONALLY MISREPRESENTED ANY FACTS OR THE LAW DURING HIS REPRESENTATION OF MS. REED.

The Referee made several crucial factual findings in her report which were not supported by clear and convincing evidence. The first finding was in paragraph 17 where the Referee found that Mr. Corbin knew Ms. Crum's affidavit contained untrue information. The second was her finding on page 5 that he made a material misrepresentation to the Court when he said there were no issues of material fact in his motion for summary judgment.

In Ms. Crum's affidavi (composite exhibi 4) she stated in material part that:

Paragraph 2. Affiant rented the property, which is the subject of the above-styled action, to the Defendants and their last payment was made during August of 1990.

. . . .

Paragraph 5. During the end of August 1990, or the first part of September 1990, defendant, Arthur Lee Williams, III telephoned affiant and said that since affiant had filed bankruptcy he did not feel he needed to pay her any more rent, and he did not pay any further rent, although Defendants were in exclusive possession of the subject property until August 1991.

Although the Referee did not specify what portions of Ms. Crum's affidavit were those which Respondent allegedly knew were untrue, in context it must be assumed to be the above two statements. Respondent did not know that Ms. Crum's statements were untrue. She was the mother of his client, Mamie Elizabeth Reed, and both Ms. Crum and Ms. Reed strenuously denied that they had received Mr. Williams' five checks (Ex. 3). Both Ms. Reed and Ms. Crum testified under oath to the Referee that they did not receive the checks. TR 138, 158. Their position before the Referee was consistent with their position when Mr. Corbin met with them in May 1994. Mr. Corbin testified that he questioned Ms. Crum closely and she convinced him that she was sincere in her assertions that she did not receive the checks.

Mr. Corbin was under no obligation to undertake an investigation in an effort to prove that Ms. Crum, his client's mother, was lying to him. No such obligation is required by the

Rules of Civil Procedure or the Rules of Professional Conduct. In fact, the comment to Rule 4-3.3 states:

However, an advocate does not vouch for the evidence submitted in a cause; the tribunal is responsible for assessing its probative value.

. . . .

An advocate... is usually not required to have personal knowledge of matters asserted [in pleadings and documents], for litigation documents ordinarily present assertions by the client, or by someone on the client's behalf, and not assertions by the lawyer.

While not on point, the comment to Rule 4-3.1 is equally instructive. When referring to the filing of frivolous pleadings, the rule notes that a lawyer does not act unethically by filing a cause

even though the lawyer believes that the client's position ultimately will not prevail.

Similarly, a lawyer does not act unethically by filing an affidavit that *may* be untrue (as opposed to one that absolutely is untrue).

The primary evidence the Bar brought forth regarding Mr. Corbin's knowledge that Ms. Crum's affidavit was untrue was speculation by two bank employees, Mary Lynell Morris and Mary Joyce West. Both testified that the signatures on the backs of the checks appeared to be Ms. Crum's. Neither, however, would swear to that effect. TR 98, 118.

Mr. Corbin had the right to rely on Ms. Crum's sworn assertion, i.e., her affidavit, when he attached that document to his motion for summary judgment.

In proving intentional misrepresentations such as the one at Bar, the Bar has the burden to prove intent by clear and convincing evidence. The Florida Bar v Cramer, 643 So.2d 1069, 1070 (Fla. 1994); The Florida Bar v Neu, 597 So.2d 166, 268 (Fla. 1992). In the case at Bar, Mr. Corbin did not know that Ms. Crum was lying. In fact, even after the final hearing before the referee in this cause, nobody can say with certainty that Ms. Crum was lying. A suspicion does not automatically translate into knowledge. The Bar maybe, just maybe, proved a suspicion. It did not prove knowledge.

The Bar has failed to prove by clear and convincing evidence that Mr. Corbin knowingly submitted a false affidavit in this cause.

The Referee also found that Mr. Corbin made a material misrepresentation in Ms. Reed's motion for summary judgment when he alleged that there were no issues of material fact to be decided by the Court. In so doing the Referee overlooked the fact that a motion for summary judgment is a preliminary step in litigation which is designed to reduce the issues to be tried before a court. Just as a lawyer is not guilty of misconduct if, ultimately, the allegations in a complaint are not proven, a lawyer should not be disciplined for using standard language in a motion for summary judgment and it is ultimately not granted. (In fact, the motion still has not been ruled upon).

The language in paragraph 4 of the motion at issue is more akin to an averment than to a statement of material fact. A careful reading of the rule makes that clear. Rule 1.510 states in

part (emphasis supplied):

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