047

## IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

A SOLUTION OF CONTROL

THE FLORIDA BAR,

Complainant/Appellee,

Case No. 88,276

vs.

TFB File No. 96-00076-14

BILL A. CORBIN,

Respondent/Appellant.

## THE FLORIDA BAR'S ANSWER BRIEF

LUAIN T. HENSEL
Bar-Counsel, The Florida Bar
650 Apalachee Parkway
Tallahassee, Florida 32399-2300
(904) 561-5600
Attorncy Number 822868

JOHN T. BERRY Staff Counsel, The Florida Bar 650 Apalachee Parkway Tallahassee, Florida 32399-2300 (904) 501-5600 Attorney Number 217305

JOHN F. HARKNESS, JR. Executive Director, The Florida Bar 650 Apalachee Parkway Tallahassee, Florida 32399-2300 (904)561-5600 Attorney Number 123390

#

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

## **SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT**

In Bar disciplinary proceedings, the party seeking review of a referee's findings and recommendations must demonstrate that the referee's findings are clearly erroneous or lacking in evidentiary support, and unless that burden is met, the referee's findings and recommendations are upheld on review. Because the record is replete with clear and convincing evidence to support the referee's factual findings and disciplinary recommendation, respondent has failed to meet his burden.

Notwitlistanding his assertion that he had a right to rely on the information provided to him by his client and lier mother, at the time respondent filed the Motion for Summary Judgment and affirmatively represented to the court that there was no issue of any niaterial fact, he had in his possession copies of five negotiated checks bearing the endorsement of his client's mother. He knew his client and her mother denied receipt of the checks; he also knew from the defendants' sworn deposition testimony that they were claiming rent had been paid by those checks. The existence of the checks and their validity were issues of material fact to be determined by the trier of fact.

Respondent's assertion that his response to Tlie Florida Bar was a mistake rather than **a** misrepresentation is not supported by tlic evidence. He claimed the "mistake" was made because he did not review the file prior to responding. However, he never explained why he did not mention an alleged forgery of Crum's signature between July 1995 and February 1990 or how he was able to attach copies of documents contained in the file to his response.

The referee's findings of fact are supported by clear and convincing evidence and should be upheld by this court. The referee's disciplinary recommendation is supported by Florida's Standards for Imposing Lawyer Sanctions, by the evidence, and by case law and should likewise be approved by this court.

#### **ARGUMENT**

I. THE FLORIDA BAR PROVED BY CLEAR AND CONVINCING EVIDENCE THAT RESPONDENT INTENTIONALLY MISREPRESENTED FACTS TO THE COURT DURING HIS REPRESENTATION OF MS. REED.

A referee's findings are presumed correct and will be upheld on review unless the party seeking review shows them to be clearly erroneous or lacking in evidenliary support. TFB v. McClure, 575 So. 2nd 176 (Fla. 1991). While The Florida Bar must prove its allegations by clear and convincing evidence, "this court's review of a referee's findings of fact is not in the nature of a trial de novo. The responsibility for finding facts and resolving conflicts in the evidence is placed with the referee." TFB v. Niles, 644 So. 2nd 504, 506 (Fla. 1994). R. Regulating Fla. Bar 3-7.0 (k)(1)(A) provides that the referee's findings of fact "shall enjoy the same presumption of correctness as the judgment of the trier of fact in a civil proceeding."

"Upon review, the burden shall be upon the party seeking review to demonstrate that a report of a referee sought to be reviewed is erroneous, unlawful, or unjustified." R. Regulating Fla. Bar 3-7.7 (c)(5). The Florida Bar has met its burden; the respondent has not and cannot.

Respondent's assertion that the referce cred by finding that Corbin knew Ms. Crum's affidavit contained untrue information is not supported by the facts, evidence, or the record. At the time respondent prepared and submitted the Motion for Summary Judgment and Crum's affidavit [Exhibit 4], he had in

his possession copies of five cancelled cliccks made payable to and apparently endorsed by Crum [Exhibit 3]. Both the motion and the affidavit clearly stated that no rental payments had been made after August, 1990; all five checks were negotiated subsequent to that date.

Ms. Mary Lynell Morris, a bookkeeper at the Bank of Jackson County for more than twenty years, testified at the final hearing that she researched the bank's records and obtained copies of the checks in question. [FH 92-93]. Ms. Morris testified that she, her supervisor Joyce West, and Mr. Heisler, the hank's executive vice-president, physically compared **Ann** Crum's signature on the back of the cancelled cliceks with the bank's signature card signed by Ann Crum. **All** of them concluded that this signatures appeared to be the same. [FH 95-96]. Ms. Morris further testified that the signature of **Ann** Crum on her affidavit [Exhibit 4] also appeared to be the same. [FH 96]. Finally, Ms. Morris testified that no one ever contacted the bank to dispute either Ann Crum's signature or to claim that anyone other than Ann Crum negotiated the cliceks. [FH 97]. In the normal course of the bank's operations, such an allegation would have been brought to her attention. [FH 97].

Joyce West, head bookkeeper and employee of the Bank of Jackson County for thirty years also testified on behalf of the Bar. She compared Ann Crum's signature on the backs of the checks with Crum's signature on a note and concluded they were the same. [FH 104]. She also testified that the signature on Crum's affidavit was the same as the one on the backs of the checks. [FH 104-105].

Ms. West also testified that bank policy requires that a check presented for cash requires tlic

signature of the person who receives the cash [FH 105]. Check No. 5029 dated November 19, 1990, was cashed by Ann Crum [FH 107]. Check No. 5030 was also cashed by Ann Crum [FH 108]. On the same day check No. 5030 was cashed, Ann Crum endorsed a payroll clicck payable to Ann T. Crum, which was also endorsed by Martha E. Thomas, her mother. [FH 101; 109; Exhibit 6]. The endorsement of Martha Thomas indicates that she received the cash despite the fact that the signature of Martha Thomas on the check does not appear to be liers. [FH 111]. The cash ticket [Exhibit 6] indicates that Mr. Williams' check No. 5030 was cashed on the same day as the payroll check from Marianna Inns payable to Ann T. Crum. [FH 114-115].

Check No. 5046 dated January 14, 1991, was endorsed and easlied by Ann Crum on January 18, 1991. [FII 111]. Check No. 5048 dated February 10, 1991, was endorsed by **Ann** Crum and her mother Martha Thomas and was easlied on February 12, 1991. [FH 112]. Check No. 5077 dated April 6, 1991, was endorsed and cashed by Ann Crum on April 9, 1991. [FH 112]. Finally, Ms. West testified that if **an** allegation or fraud or forgery had been made concerning tlic checks in question, she would have known about it. No such allegation was ever made. [FH 115-116].

The Florida Bar respectfully submits that a comparison of Ann Crum's signature on the backs of the checks in question [Exhibit 3], on the affidavit [Exhibit 4], and on the payroll check [Exhibit 6] does not require the expertise of a handwriting expert.

In the affidavit prepared by respondent, Ms. Crum states in pertinent part that "their [the defendants]

last payment was made during August of 1990." The affidavit incorporated by reference a handwritten record of payments indicating tlic last payment was in August 1990. [Exhibit 4]. At tlic time respondent prepared the motion arid affidavit, he had in his possession five cancelled checks reflecting payments after August 1990.

The mere existence of the checks created a disputed issue of material fact. However, in the Motion for Summary Judgment, respondent did not disclose the existence of the checks and affirmatively stated "There is no issue of any material fact in this cause ...".

Elizabeth Reed, Anti Crum's daughter, had sued Ms. Crum over the ownership of the house rented by the Williamses and alleged that Ms. Crum had forged Reed's signature on a deed. [FH 145; 180]. When shown the checks by respondent, Ann Crum denied their receipt but did not report the alleged forgery of her endorsement on them to the bank or the Slate Attorney's office. [FH 153-154]. Elizabeth Reed also did not report the alleged forgery to the bank or the Stale Attorney's office. [FH 169].

Finally, in a letter to Mr. and Mrs. Williams dated October 21, 1990, Ann Crum made no mention of the allegedly missing rent payments for September and October. Rather, she was trying to get them to purchase the house. [Exhibit 1].

On the day of the hearing of the Motion for Summary Judgment, the court reserved and granted the

defendants ten days to file opposing affidavits. Judge Hatcher explained that "The only reason 1 would do that since the rule really doesn't provide, they [the Williamses] came as pro separties and they simply were not aware of their responsibility." [FH 175]. Respondent never re-noticed the chearing on the Motion for Summary Judgment after the Williamses retained counsel and provided the checks with an affidavit in opposition to the motion. [FH 184]. Respondent's Motion stating that "there is no issue of any material fact in this cause" without revealing the existence of the checks is a clear misrepresentation to a court.

#### As stated by the referee:

Paragraph Fourteen. At the time Respondent prepared tlic Motion for Summary Judgment in Crum's affidavit, he knew the information contained therein was not true. This addresses two issues: Ms. Crum's affidavit and the Motion for Summary Judgment.

I find that by clear and convincing evidence, The Florida Bar has proved the first part of that, that he knew that there was a genuine issue of inaterial fact, which was payments after August of 1990. He knew that, because Mr. and Mrs. Williams had told him in deposition tliat they had made payments. Further, Mr. Williams provided copies of checks that obviously were negotiated made payable to Ann Crum for those dates indicated after August of 1090.

Now, tlic other part becomes a little more problematic, and that is, wlictlicr or not he knew that Crum's affidavit was not true. I'm going to make tliese findings in support of my ruling on that particular portion.

Essentially, this turns on the credibility of his defense that these clicclts were-- and although he doesn't phrase it quite this way, that the checks made payable to **Ann** Crum that were negotiated and obviously paid by the bank, were paid to someone else, because Ann Crum represented to him that the signature on the back of those checks was a forgery.

Now, this is, in essence, an issue of credibility of his defense and I suppose it could be a valid defense if certain things *had* been done. But he never represented that issue to the Bar when the Bar

inquired of him by letter last September what liad happened. He never raised that. In fhet, he stated clearly that the Williamses had been given credit for those cheeks.

I appreciate that there was *an* allegation somewhere in the Complaint about what he said at the Grievance Committee licaring, but all that was presented at this licaring was that he did not raise that defense **and** he stated lie did not know why he did not raise it. That was his language. To come over a year later and now raise this as *a* defense undermines the credibility of that.

Further undermining the credibility of-that defense is that he solely took his client's word for it, when he liad obviously negotiated checks. He made no check with the bank to determine whether or not these checks **had** been cashed, who might have received the money, whether there'd been any complaints made.

So this is a weighing and balancing, and the Court finds that based upon what I have just stated here, that that particular allegation in full has been proved by clear arid convincing evidence.

[GH 6-81.

Respondent was attempting to take advantage of pro se litigants who were unaware of the iieed to file an opposing affidavit as evidenced by the fact that he filed the false motion rather than selling the matter for final licaring. Judge Hatcher testified that the Williamses appeared at the hearing prepared to argue the motion, at which time he explained the necessity of *an* affidavit *and* that this was not a small claims case [FH 175].

In finding that respondent violated Rule 4-3.3 (a)(1) [A lawyer shall not knowingly make a false statement of material fact or law to a tribunal], Rules Regulating the Florida Bar, the referee stated as follows:

The defense that Mr. Corbin raises was that he was satisfied in his own mind that these checks had been forged and therefore had not been paid to Ms. Crum. But lie filed a Motion for Summary Judgment. A Motion for Summary Judgment has a different standard

and therefore a different responsibility for an attorney than a final hearing.

In a Motion for Summary Judgment, an attorney must represent that there is no genuine issue as to any material fact. The Court fully appreciates that attonicys aiid judges liave no responsibility to pro se litigants to assist them in preparing their cases. At the same time, the Court and the Bar have a responsibility not to mislead or undermine the efforts of pro se litigants to represent themselves. This is a critical issue, critical for the future of our Bar.

It is true that Mr. Corbin had no responsibility to litigate the Williams' case for them. But on a Motion for Summary Judgment, he, as an officer of the Court, represents to the Court that there is no genuine issue as to any material fact, and lie knew there was a genuine issue as to a material fact, and that was the payment of rent for those five months.

The issue of whether that was Ms. Crum's signature or not was an issue for tlic trier of fact to determine, not for tlic person representing the plaintiffwho claimed those signatures were forgeries to determine without presenting it to tlic trier of fact.

This is a little different situation than the landlord stating I never received the payments and the tenant under oath testifying, well, I paid you in each on such arid such a date. This was an issue where the Williamses had obviously cancelled checks. They looked real. They liad the stamps of the various banks on them, and Mr. Corbin now at trial says that his client said they were forged. He had not said that up to this point.

That undermines the credibility of that particular defense. He knew there was **an** existence of a genuine issue and took no steps to ensure the Court knew that. He could have set it for a final hearing rather than a Motion for Summary Judgment and he didn't do that. He set it for a Motion for Summary Judgment.

Judges rely upon attorneys as officers of the Court representing to the Court that they've investigated the case. They liave a greater responsibility than just as *an* advocate for their client; they have a responsibility to the Court to represent the were defenses raised hut there was no true evidence to support them, something of that sort.

He knew tlicre was a genuine issue here and he did not represent that. Specifically, he said tlicre was not. I find his inconsistency in responding to tlic official examination of liis behavior supports that he knowingly made **a** false statement of

material fact to a tribunal in the filing of this Motion for Summary Judgment.

[GH 9-11].

II. THE REFEREE'S FINDING THAT RESPONDENT MADE A KNOWJNC MISREPRESENTATION IN A DISCIPLINARY MATTER IS CORRECT AND IS SUPPORTED BY CLEAR AND CONVINCING EVIDENCE

In his initial response to The Florida Bar, [Exhibit 5] respondent stated that "3 pages of attachments showing partial payments by Defendants as supported by their faxed transmittal [copies of the five checks] mentioned above. A copy of the Motion, Affidavit, and attachments are enclosed herewith." In the next paragraph, respondent claims "the 3-page attachment to Ms. Crum's Affidavit clearly shows the payments by those checks and thus credit for them." [Emphasis in original]. The three-page attachment does not show payments by those checks or any credit for them. Of more significance is the fact that the response does not mention any alleged forgery of the endorsement on the back of the checks. Between July 1995, when he received Mr. Williams' Bar complaint and the grievance committee hearing on February 8, 1996, respondent never raised the issue of an alleged forgery of Crum's endorsement on the checks. [FH 75-76].

At the file when he drafted his response. [FH 83-86]. What Corbin did not explain was how, if he did

not have access to his file at the time he responded, lie was able to attach copies of the Motion, Affidavit and attachments to his response. [Exhibit 5]. Respondent also failed to explain why between July 1995 when he received a copy of Mr. Williams' complaint and the Bar's request that he respond, and September 14, 1995, tlic date of his response, he was unable to review his office file. [FH 88-89; FII 203-2041.

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